

CHARTER

of the **NON-GOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATION “TRIBUNAL”**

1. GENERAL PROVISIONS

- 1.1. The **Non-Governmental Organization “TRIBUNAL”** (hereinafter – the *Organization*) is a voluntary association of individuals established for the exercise and protection of rights and freedoms, as well as for the satisfaction of public interests, including economic, social, cultural, environmental, and other interests.
- 1.2. In its activities, the Organization is guided by the Constitution of Ukraine, the Law of Ukraine *On Public Associations*, the Civil Code of Ukraine, other applicable legislation of Ukraine, this Charter, as well as the legislation of those states in which separate subdivisions of the Organization are duly established.
The legal basis of the Organization’s activities also includes decisions adopted or issued by the governing bodies of the Organization within the scope of their statutory powers, which are binding on all members of the Organization.
- 1.3. **Name of the Organization:**
 - 1.3.1. General name (organizational and legal form): **Non-Governmental Organization**.
 - 1.3.2. Proper name of the Organization: **“TRIBUNAL”**.
 - 1.3.3. Full name of the Organization in Ukrainian: **ГРОМАДСЬКА ОРГАНІЗАЦІЯ “ТРИБУНАЛ”**.
 - 1.3.4. Abbreviated name of the Organization in Ukrainian: **ГО “ТРИБУНАЛ”**.
 - 1.3.5. Full name of the Organization in English: **NON-GOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATION “TRIBUNAL”**.
 - 1.3.6. Abbreviated name of the Organization in English: **NGO TRIBUNAL**.
- 1.4. The Organization is a non-profit organization. Generating profit is not the primary purpose of the Organization’s activities.
- 1.5. The Organization is free to determine the directions of its activities and operates on the principles of voluntariness, self-governance, free choice of the territory of activity, equality before the law, absence of property interests of its members, transparency, openness, and publicity.
- 1.6. The registered office (legal address) of the Organization is: ■

2. LEGAL STATUS OF THE ORGANIZATION

- 2.1. The activities of the Organization are of a public nature, as reflected in its cooperation with state authorities, local self-government bodies, enterprises, institutions, and organizations of all forms of ownership, as well as in the establishment of partnerships with other non-governmental organizations,

movements, and foundations registered in Ukraine or abroad, citizens of Ukraine, foreign nationals, and/or stateless persons.

- 2.2. The Organization acquires the status of a legal entity from the moment of its state registration in accordance with the applicable legislation of Ukraine. The Organization has an independent balance sheet and may open bank accounts, including foreign currency accounts, with banking institutions. The Organization is entitled to use a round seal, stamps, and letterhead in its activities. The use of a seal by the Organization is not mandatory. A seal imprint may not be required as a mandatory element of any document submitted by the Organization to state authorities or local self-government bodies. A copy of a document submitted by the Organization to a state authority or local self-government body shall be deemed duly certified if such copy bears the signature of an authorized representative of the Organization.
- 2.3. The Organization may have its own symbols (emblem, flag). The symbols of the Organization shall be approved by a decision of the General Assembly of the members of the Organization and shall be registered in accordance with the law.
- 2.4. From the moment of state registration, the Organization has the exclusive right to use its name, including the name presented in a foreign language or in the language of a national minority.
- 2.5. The Organization independently determines its internal organizational structure and may, in accordance with the established procedure, establish separate subdivisions and obtain nationwide status.

3. PURPOSE (OBJECTIVES) AND AREAS OF ACTIVITY OF THE ORGANIZATION

3.1. Purpose (Objectives) of the Organization

The purpose (objectives) of the Organization is to exercise and protect human rights and freedoms; to serve public interests, including economic, social, cultural, environmental, and other interests; to promote the establishment of the rule of law in all spheres of public life; to contribute to the development of a democratic, law-governed state; to increase legal awareness among citizens; to strengthen civil society institutions; and to promote and protect human rights and fundamental freedoms through facilitating the effective implementation of the legislation of Ukraine on democratic civilian oversight of state authorities and institutions, including the Law of Ukraine “On Democratic Civilian Control over the Military Organization and Law Enforcement Bodies of the State” No. 975-IV of 19 June 2003.

3.2. Areas of Activity of the Organization

The Organization carries out its activities in the following areas:

- promotion of human rights values and international human rights standards; public education and awareness-raising;
- provision of legal assistance and legal protection to victims of human rights violations;
- participation in supporting the development of the Ukrainian human rights movement;

- monitoring human rights and fundamental freedoms violations and the human rights situation in Ukraine in light of international human rights obligations;
- dissemination of information on the state of human rights and fundamental freedoms in Ukraine to its members, Ukrainian governmental and non-governmental organizations, international bodies, and the general public;
- participation in the analysis of electoral legislation and electoral and referendum practices;
- promotion of elections conducted in accordance with national legislation and international standards;
- official observation of elections in Ukraine;
- facilitation of effective public participation in legislative processes related to human rights and fundamental freedoms;
- support for public consultation and inclusion of civil society input in decision-making related to the Armed Forces of Ukraine, other military formations, law enforcement agencies, courts, and officials in the fields of defense, national security, public order, and the rule of law;
- prevention of violations of constitutional rights and protection of the lawful interests of military personnel, veterans, law enforcement officers, judges, and their family members;
- development and improvement of mechanisms for the protection of civil rights and freedoms;
- strengthening dialogue and cooperation between civil society organizations and public authorities at local, regional, and national levels;
- engagement of citizens in information, civic, educational, research, and analytical activities;
- implementation and support of national, regional, local, and international social programs;
- promotion of information security awareness;
- enhancement of respect for the law, public order, and the rule of law;
- participation in anti-corruption awareness and educational activities;
- cooperation with law enforcement authorities in combating corruption and organized crime;
- promotion of democratic governance and the rule of law;
- professional exchange of experience with other organizations and institutions;
- strengthening partnerships among public authorities, law enforcement agencies, businesses, and individuals in anti-corruption efforts;
- protection of the rights and interests of the Organization's members;
- promotion of civic consciousness based on national interests and universal human values;
- provision of free legal assistance to individuals affected by unlawful actions of public authorities;
- analytical, consulting, sociological, and research activities related to economic and social challenges.

3.3. Rights of the Organization

In order to achieve its objectives, the Organization has the right to:

- represent and protect the rights and interests of individuals before courts and public authorities in accordance with the law;
- organize and support conferences, forums, festivals, seminars, roundtables, public hearings, educational programs, and other public events;
- freely disseminate information about its activities by lawful means;
- submit proposals, petitions, complaints, and appeals to public authorities;
- access public information in accordance with the law;
- participate in drafting legislation and public policy relevant to its mission;
- participate in advisory and consultative bodies of public authorities;
- organize and participate in peaceful assemblies;
- conduct official election and referendum observation;
- establish and support media and publishing activities;
- engage in international cooperation and partnerships;
- carry out economic activities necessary for achieving statutory objectives in accordance with the law;
- attract volunteers and engage in volunteer activities;
- receive and manage humanitarian aid;
- exercise other rights not prohibited by law.

3.4. Cooperation.

The Organization may implement its objectives through cooperation agreements with other civil society organizations, establishment of associations or unions, and other lawful forms of cooperation.

3.5. International Cooperation.

The Organization may cooperate with foreign non-governmental organizations and international intergovernmental organizations in compliance with the legislation of Ukraine and applicable international treaties.

4. PROCEDURE FOR ACQUIRING AND TERMINATING MEMBERSHIP IN THE ORGANIZATION

4.1. Eligibility for Membership

Members of the Organization may be citizens of Ukraine, foreign nationals, and stateless persons who are legally residing in Ukraine, have reached the age of fourteen (14), recognize and accept the Charter of the Organization, and contribute to activities aimed at achieving the statutory purpose (objectives) of the Organization.

4.2. Admission to and Withdrawal from Membership

Admission to and withdrawal from membership in the Organization shall be carried out by submitting a written application for admission or withdrawal to the Director of the Organization.

4.3. Decision on Admission and Expulsion

Decisions on admitting individuals to membership or expelling members from the Organization shall be made by the General Assembly of Members within one month

from the date of submission of the relevant application.
The General Assembly of Members has the right to refuse admission to the Organization.

4.4. Grounds for Termination of Membership

Membership in the Organization shall be terminated in the following cases:

- voluntary withdrawal of a member from the Organization;
- compulsory expulsion of a member by decision of the General Assembly due to:
- violation of the provisions of this Charter;
- failure to participate in the activities of the Organization, personally or through a representative, for at least twelve (12) consecutive months;
- activities of the member that contradict the purpose (objectives) of the Organization;
- systematic non-payment of membership fees;
- death of a member of the Organization.

4.5. Effective Date of Termination.

In the case of voluntary withdrawal, membership shall be terminated on the date the written withdrawal application is submitted to the Director of the Organization and does not require any additional decision.

In the case of compulsory expulsion, membership shall be terminated from the date the relevant decision is adopted by the General Assembly of Members.

4.6. Termination of Elected Positions.

From the date of termination of membership, the individual shall cease to hold any elected position within the Organization.

The Director of the Organization shall cease membership on the day following the election of a new Director or Deputy Director.

4.7. Conflict of Interest in Voting.

A member of the Organization shall not have the right to vote at the General Assembly of Members on matters relating to a dispute between that member and the Organization.

5. RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF MEMBERS OF THE ORGANIZATION

5.1. Equality of Members.

Members of the Organization shall have equal rights and obligations.

5.2. Equal Exercise of Rights.

All members of the Organization shall be equal in exercising their rights and fulfilling their obligations.

5.3. Rights of Members.

Members of the Organization shall have the right to:

- participate in the activities of the Organization;
- elect and be elected to the governing bodies of the Organization;

- take part in all events organized by the Organization;
- submit inquiries and proposals to the governing bodies of the Organization on matters related to its activities;
- challenge decisions, actions, or omissions of the governing bodies of the Organization by submitting statements, objections, or complaints in accordance with Section 6 of this Charter, and to request that such complaints and statements be reviewed by the General Assembly of Members;
- participate in the development and adoption of decisions of the General Assembly of Members;
- receive information on the activities of the Organization, including decisions adopted and activities carried out;
- apply to the governing bodies of the Organization for the protection of their rights and legitimate interests;
- voluntarily terminate membership in the Organization at any time by submitting a written application to the Director of the Organization.

5.4. Obligations of Members.

Members of the Organization shall be obliged to:

- comply with the provisions of this Charter and the decisions of the governing bodies of the Organization;
- promote and support the activities of the Organization;
- refrain from any actions that may harm the Organization or hinder the achievement of its purpose (objectives) and areas of activity;
- timely pay admission and membership fees;
- uphold their personal integrity and contribute to maintaining the reputation and public image of the Organization.

6. GOVERNING BODIES OF THE ORGANIZATION

6.1. Governing Bodies

- The governing bodies of the Organization are:
- the General Assembly of Members,
- the Board of the Organization,
- the Director of the Organization,
- the Audit Commission of the Organization.

6.2. GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF MEMBERS

6.2.1. Status and Authority.

The General Assembly of Members (hereinafter – the *General Assembly*) is the supreme governing body of the Organization and is empowered to make decisions on any matters relating to the activities of the Organization, including those delegated to the competence of the Board.

6.2.2. Composition and Voting.

The General Assembly consists of the members of the Organization or their duly authorized representatives.

Each member or representative shall have **one vote**.

6.2.3. Convening the General Assembly

6.2.3.1. Ordinary Meetings.

Ordinary General Assembly meetings shall be convened by the Board at least **once every two (2) years**.

The decision specifying the date, time, venue, and agenda shall be communicated to members **no later than 30 days** prior to the meeting.

6.2.3.2. Extraordinary Meetings.

Extraordinary General Assembly meetings shall be convened by the Board within **30 days** of the occurrence of circumstances significantly affecting the interests of the Organization or in other cases provided by this Charter and Ukrainian law.

Members shall be notified **no later than 14 days** prior to the meeting.

6.2.3.3. Member-Initiated Meetings.

At least **one-tenth (1/10)** of the members may initiate an extraordinary General Assembly.

If the Board fails to convene the meeting, such members may convene it independently.

6.2.4. Notification Procedure.

The Director shall notify members of General Assembly meetings, indicating the date, time, venue, and agenda, using available communication means, including email, telephone, or digital platforms.

6.2.5. Conduct of Meetings.

- Meetings shall normally be held with members or their representatives physically present in one location.
The General Assembly is quorate if at least two-thirds (2/3) of all members or their representatives are present.
- Minutes shall be kept and signed by the Chair and Secretary elected from among those present.
- Meetings may also be held remotely using electronic communication tools upon request of members holding at least 50% of votes.

6.2.6. Decision-Making

6.2.6.1. In-Person Voting

Decisions are adopted by **simple majority**, except for:

- amendments to the Charter,
- adoption of a new Charter,
- disposal of assets exceeding 50% of the Organization's property,

- reorganization or dissolution,
- which require a three-quarters (3/4) majority of those present.

6.2.6.2. Remote Voting

- Remote decision-making is conducted via written electronic consent of all members, following a formal request issued by the Director.
Decisions are valid only if all members vote in favor.
Collected written decisions constitute the official minutes.

6.2.7. Exclusive Competence of the General Assembly.

The General Assembly shall have exclusive authority to:

- approve and amend the Charter;
- define strategic priorities, plans, and programs;
- manage ownership rights of the Organization;
- approve symbols of the Organization;
- decide on dissolution or reorganization;
- appoint and dismiss the Director, Board members, and Audit Commission members;
- approve budgets, financial statements, and reports;
- order independent audits;
- admit and expel members;
- establish or dissolve separate subdivisions.

6.3. BOARD OF THE ORGANIZATION

6.3.1. Role.

The Board is the executive governing body responsible for managing the Organization between General Assembly meetings and implementing its decisions.

6.3.2. Composition

- The Director serves as Chair of the Board.
- Board members are elected from among members of the Organization for a five (5)-year **term**, with a minimum of two members.

6.3.3. Meetings and Decisions

- Regular Board meetings are held once per year.
- Extraordinary meetings may be convened at the request of the majority of Board members.
- A quorum requires two-thirds (2/3) of Board members.
- Decisions are adopted by simple majority.
- Meetings may be conducted remotely under procedures analogous to those of the General Assembly.

6.3.4. Powers of the Board

The Board:

- implements decisions of the General Assembly;
- convenes General Assembly meetings;
- approves membership fees;
- adopts internal regulations;
- considers complaints against the Director;
- approves honorary titles and awards;
- reports to the General Assembly at least once every two years.

6.4. DIRECTOR OF THE ORGANIZATION

6.4.1. Status

The Director is the highest executive officer of the Organization.

6.4.2. Appointment and Term.

The Director is elected by the General Assembly for a five (5)-year term and may be re-elected or dismissed by simple majority.

6.4.3. Powers

The Director:

- represents the Organization externally;
- signs contracts and legal documents;
- manages finances and assets;
- opens bank accounts;
- hires and dismisses staff;
- convenes Board and General Assembly meetings;
- issues internal orders;
- reports to the General Assembly at least once every two years.

6.5. AUDIT COMMISSION

6.5.1. Status

The Audit Commission is the internal supervisory body responsible for overseeing the financial and economic activities of the Organization, provided the Organization has more than ten members.

6.5.2. Composition

- At least three (3) members elected for a five (5)-year term.
- Members of the Board and the Director may not serve on the Audit Commission.

6.5.3. Powers

The Audit Commission:

- monitors compliance with the Charter and ethical standards;
- audits financial activities and use of funds;
- reviews complaints and issues compliance recommendations;
- reports to the General Assembly at least once every two years.

6.5.4. Independence

- The Audit Commission is accountable solely to the General Assembly.
- For its work, the Director shall provide full access to all necessary documentation.
- Audit Commission members may attend Board meetings in an advisory capacity.

7. APPEALS AGAINST DECISIONS, ACTIONS OR OMISSIONS OF THE ORGANIZATION'S GOVERNING BODIES AND COMPLAINTS PROCEDURE

7.1. Right to Appeal.

Any member (or members) of the Organization may appeal decisions, actions, or omissions of the Organization's governing bodies.

7.2. Complaints Concerning the Director.

A primary complaint regarding the actions, omissions, or decisions of the Director shall be submitted to the Board. The Board shall review the complaint at its next meeting and shall summon:

- the complaining member(s), and
- the Director whose actions, omissions, or decision is being challenged.
- If the Board dismisses the complaint, a repeat complaint may be submitted to the General Assembly. The General Assembly shall review the complaint at an ordinary or extraordinary meeting and shall summon:
 - the complaining member(s), and
 - the Chair of the Board (Director) whose actions, omissions, or decision is being challenged.

7.3. Complaints Concerning Board Member(s)

A primary complaint regarding the actions, omissions, or decisions of a Board member (or Board members) shall be submitted to the Director, who shall review the complaint within twenty (20) working days, and shall summon:

- the complaining member(s), and
- the Board member(s) whose actions, omissions, or decision is being challenged.
- If the complaint is dismissed by the Director (Chair of the Board), a repeat complaint may be submitted to the General Assembly, which shall review it at an ordinary or extraordinary meeting and shall summon:
 - the complaining member(s), and
 - the relevant Board member(s) whose actions, omissions, or decision is being challenged.

7.4. Extraordinary General Assembly for Urgent Complaints

A complaint requiring consideration at an extraordinary General Assembly meeting shall constitute grounds for convening such a meeting within **seven (7) days** from the date the complaint is received.

7.5. Complaints Concerning the General Assembly.

Complaints regarding the actions, omissions, or decisions of the General Assembly shall be submitted to the court in accordance with the applicable legislation of Ukraine in force at the time of such appeal.

7.6. Scope of Appealable Matters.

Appealable decisions, actions, or omissions include decisions adopted within the management activities of the Organization's governing bodies which result in any of the following:

7.7. Violation of Rights.

The rights, legitimate interests, or freedoms of a member (or members) have been violated.

7.8. Obstruction.

Obstacles have been created that prevent a member (or members) from exercising their rights, legitimate interests, or freedoms.

7.9. Unlawful Obligations or Disciplinary Measures.

Unlawful obligations have been imposed on a member (or members), or unlawful disciplinary measures have been applied.

8. INTERNATIONAL ACTIVITIES OF THE ORGANIZATION

8.1. Scope of International Activities.

In accordance with its statutory objectives, the Organization has the right to engage in international relations and activities in the manner prescribed by this Charter, the applicable legislation of Ukraine, and relevant international treaties.

8.2. Use of Assets Obtained Through International Activities.

The Organization has the right to use and dispose of funds, property, proprietary and non-proprietary rights, as well as other results obtained in the course of its international activities, in accordance with the law and its statutory objectives.

8.3. Forms of International Cooperation.

The international activities of the Organization are carried out through participation in international projects, cooperation with international organizations, and other forms of engagement that do not contravene the legislation of Ukraine. A priority area of such activities is cooperation with international and foreign organizations whose mission is the development of law, justice, and legal technologies.

9. SOURCES OF FUNDS AND THE PROCEDURE FOR THE USE OF FUNDS AND OTHER ASSETS OF THE ORGANIZATION.

9.1. Non-Profit Status.

The Organization is a non-profit entity. For the purpose of achieving its statutory goals and objectives, the Organization may own funds, securities, equipment, vehicles, and other property, the acquisition of which is not prohibited by the current legislation of Ukraine.

9.2. Ownership Rights.

The Organization shall own, use, and dispose of property belonging to it under the right of ownership.

9.3. Sources of Assets.

The property and funds of the Organization shall consist of:

- funds or property received free of charge or in the form of non-repayable financial assistance, voluntary donations, and contributions from participants of the Organization;
- passive income;
- grants, donations, and contributions from donors;
- subsidies or grants from the state or local budgets, as well as from state target funds;
- financial support for programs (projects, activities) of the Organization financed from the state and local budgets, including funds received from the execution of state orders;
- charitable, humanitarian, and technical assistance, including assistance provided in accordance with international treaties of Ukraine;
- assets acquired as a result of the Organization's entrepreneurial activities, as well as the entrepreneurial activities of legal entities (companies or enterprises) established by the Organization;
- income from the Organization's core statutory activities in accordance with this Charter and applicable law;
- property acquired using the Organization's own funds or obtained on other grounds not prohibited by law.

9.4. Management of Property.

Ownership rights of the Organization shall be exercised by the General Assembly in accordance with the law and this Charter. Certain functions related to the management of property may, by decision of the General Assembly, be delegated to the governing bodies established in accordance with this Charter, to legal entities (companies or enterprises) founded by the Organization, to separate structural units, or transferred to public unions formed by such public associations.

9.5. Use of Income.

The income (profits) of the Organization shall be used exclusively to finance the maintenance of the Organization and to achieve its statutory goals, objectives, and areas of activity as defined by this Charter.

9.6. Prohibition of Profit Distribution.

The distribution of income (profits) or any part thereof among the founders (participants), members, employees of the Organization (except for remuneration of labor and mandatory social contributions), members of the governing bodies, or other related persons is strictly prohibited.

9.7. Liability.

The Organization shall be liable for its obligations within the limits of its property that may be subject to enforcement under the current legislation of Ukraine. The state, its authorities, and the participants of the Organization shall not be liable for the obligations of the Organization, nor shall the Organization be liable for the obligations of the state, its authorities, or its participants. State authorities, local self-government bodies, and their officials shall not interfere in the activities of the Organization, and the Organization shall not interfere in the activities of state or local authorities, except as provided by law.

9.8. Accounting and Reporting.

The Organization and the legal entities (companies or enterprises) established by it are obliged to maintain accounting records, financial and statistical reporting, be registered with the tax authorities, and pay mandatory charges in accordance with the law. The granting of benefits, including tax benefits, to the Organization and the legal entities established by it shall be carried out on the grounds and in the manner prescribed by law.

10. PROCEDURE FOR THE ESTABLISHMENT, OPERATION, AND TERMINATION OF SEPARATE STRUCTURAL UNITS OF THE ORGANIZATION

- 10.1. The Organization may establish separate structural units by a decision of the General Assembly in accordance with this Charter and in the manner prescribed by law.
- 10.2. Separate structural units of the Organization shall not have the status of legal entities.
- 10.3. Separate structural units of the Organization shall be established and operate on the basis of this Charter and the Regulations governing such units, which shall be approved, amended, and supplemented by the General Assembly.
- 10.4. The Regulations on a separate structural unit of the Organization shall contain information on:
 - the name of the separate unit;
 - the governing (and, where applicable, supervisory) bodies;
 - the procedure for appointment and term of office;
 - the scope of powers of the governing (and, where applicable, supervisory) bodies.
 - Such Regulations shall not contradict this Charter or applicable law.

- 10.5. Heads of separate structural units shall be appointed and dismissed by the General Assembly. Heads of separate structural units shall perform their functions on the basis of a power of attorney issued by the Director of the Organization.
- 10.6. The activities of separate structural units may be terminated by their closure upon a decision of the General Assembly or by a court decision.
- 10.7. In the event of termination of a separate structural unit, all property and funds assigned to such unit shall be returned to the Organization.
- 10.8. Notice of the termination of a separate structural unit shall be submitted by the Organization to the authorized registration body at the location of the Organization.

11. PROCEDURE FOR AMENDING THE CHARTER OF THE ORGANIZATION

- 11.1. Decisions to amend or supplement this Charter, or to approve a new version of the Charter, shall be adopted by the General Assembly in accordance with the procedure established by this Charter, provided that at least **three-quarters (3/4)** of the total number of participants or their authorized representatives present at the General Assembly vote in favor.
- 11.2. The Organization shall notify the registration authority of any amendments made to the Charter.

12. TERMINATION OF THE ACTIVITIES OF THE ORGANIZATION

- 12.1. The activities of the Organization may be terminated through self-dissolution (liquidation), reorganization, or by a court decision banning (compulsory dissolution) the Organization. The Organization has the right at any time to decide to terminate its activities through self-dissolution (liquidation).
- 12.2. Termination of the Organization shall be carried out in accordance with the procedure established by law.
- 12.3. A decision on self-dissolution (liquidation) shall be adopted by the General Assembly in accordance with this Charter, provided that at least **three-quarters (3/4)** of the total number of participants or their authorized representatives present vote in favor.
The General Assembly shall establish a liquidation commission or assign liquidation powers to a governing body and shall decide on the use of the Organization's funds and property after liquidation in accordance with this Charter.
- 12.4. A decision on the reorganization of the Organization shall be adopted by the General Assembly in accordance with this Charter, provided that at least **three-quarters (3/4)** of the total number of participants or their authorized representatives present vote in favor.
In the event of reorganization, the assets, rights, and obligations of the Organization shall be transferred to its legal successor(s), being one or more non-profit organizations of the relevant type.

- 12.5.** The Organization may be banned by a court decision in accordance with the law. In such case, the property, funds, and other assets of the Organization shall be transferred to the state budget by court decision.
- 12.6.** Termination of the Organization includes the termination of its internal organizational activities and the termination of the Organization as a legal entity.
- 12.7.** In the event of termination of the Organization (as a result of liquidation, merger, division, accession, or transformation), the assets of the Organization shall be transferred to one or more non-profit organizations of the relevant type or credited to the state budget.

13. FINAL PROVISIONS

- 13.1.** In matters not regulated by this Charter, the participants of the Organization shall be guided by the applicable legislation of Ukraine and relevant international treaties.